**IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF IOWA
NO. 18-1534**

IN RE 2018 GRAND JURY OF DALLAS COUNTY

**JOHN DOE,
Appellant.**

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR DALLAS COUNTY,
HONORABLE DUSTRIA RELPH**

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF
AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

Alfredo Parrish
Tammy Westhoff Gentry
Parrish Kruidenier Dunn
Boles Gribble Gentry
Brown & Bergmann L.L.P.
2910 Grand Avenue
Des Moines, Iowa 50312
Telephone: (515) 284-5737
Facsimile: (515) 284-1704
Email: aparrish@parrishlaw.com
tgentry@parrishlaw.com
ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

Zachary Miller
Assistant Attorney General,
Hoover State Office Building
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
Telephone: (515) 281-3648
Facsimile: (515) 281-8894

Statement of Issues

I. A prosecutor who contacts an accused's expert *ex parte* must be disqualified from a criminal case.

Blanton v. Barrick, 258 N.W.2d 306 (Iowa 1977)

Carlson v. Monaco Coach Corp., No. CIV. S-05-181
LKK/GGH, 2006 WL 1716400 (E. D. Cal. 2006)
(unpublished)

Erickson v. Newmar Corp., 87 F.3d 298 (9th Cir. 1996)

In re Green Grand Jury Proceedings, 492 F.3d 976 (8th Cir.
2007)

State v. Coleman, 907 N.W.2d 124 (Iowa 2018)

State v. Dahl, 874 N.W.2d 348 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Graves, 668 N.W.2d 860 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Halstead, 35 N.W. 457 (Iowa 1887)

State v. Halverson, 857 N.W.2d 632 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Iowa Dist. Ct., 870 N.W.2d 849 (Iowa 2015)

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.101

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.508

Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:3.4

Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:4.1

Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:4.2

Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:4.3

2 Geoffrey C. Hazard & W. William Hodes, *The Law of
Lawyering* § 3.4:402 (2d ed. Supp.1994)

ABA Comm. on Ethics & Prof'l Responsibility, Formal Op. 93-
378 (1993)

ABA Standards for Criminal Justice (3d ed. 1993)

ABA Standards for Criminal Justice: Prosecution Function
(4th ed. 2015), [https://www.americanbar.org/groups/crimina
l_justice/standards/ProsecutionFunctionFourthEdition/](https://www.americanbar.org/groups/criminal_justice/standards/ProsecutionFunctionFourthEdition/)

George M. Cohen, *Beyond the No-Contact Rule: Ex Parte
Contact by Lawyers with Nonclients*, 87 Tul. L. Rev. 1197
(2013)

II. The State cannot lawfully subpoena a criminal defense expert, retained in anticipation of litigation, to testify at a grand jury proceeding.

DeSimone v. State, 803 N.W.2d 97 (Iowa 2011)

Hansen v. Central Iowa Hosp. Corp., 686 N.W.2d 476 (Iowa 2004)
In re A.M., 856 N.W.2d 365 (Iowa 2014)
In re Grand Jury Proceedings, 473 F.2d 840 (8th Cir. 1973)
In re Terkeloub, 256 F. Supp. 683 (S.D.N.Y. 1966)
Lawyer Disciplinary Bd. v. Farber, 488 S.E.2d 460 (W. Va. 1997)
Molyneaux v. Willcockson, 137 N.W. 1016 (Iowa 1912)
Morris-Rosdall v. Schechinger, 576 N.W.2d 609 (Iowa Ct. App. 1998)
Patch v. Bds. of Sup'rs, 159 N.W. 694 (Iowa 1916)
State v. Bearse, 748 N.W.2d 211 (Iowa 2008)
State v. Martinez, 896 N.W.2d 737 (Iowa 2017)
State v. Wong, 40 P.3d 914 (Haw. 2002)
Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.508
Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.10(5)
Iowa R. Evid. 5.104
Iowa R. Evid. 5.410(a)
Iowa R. Evid. 5.501
Iowa R. Evid. 5.1101
Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:1.6
11 Barry A. Lindahl, *Iowa Practice Series*TM: *Civil & Appellate Procedure* § 25:6 (West, Westlaw updated May 2018)

III. A district court should quash a grand jury proceeding to uphold the constitutional rights of an accused.

Hobson v. Dist. Ct., 177 N.W. 40 (Iowa 1920)
Marbury v. Madison, 5 U.S. 137 (1803)
State v. Chong, 949 P.2d 122 (Haw. 1997)
State v. Hall, 235 N.W.2d 702 (Iowa 1975)
State v. Iowa Dist. Ct., 568 N.W.2d 505 (Iowa 1997)
State v. Joao, 491 P.2d 1089 (Haw. 1971)
State v. Moriwake, 647 P.2d 705 (Haw. 1982)
State v. Olson, 86 N.W.2d 214 (Iowa 1957)
State v. Paulsen, 286 N.W.2d 157 (Iowa 1979)
State v. Wong, 40 P.3d 914 (Haw. 2002)
United States v. Calandra, 414 U.S. 338 (1974)
United States v. Civella, 666 F.2d 1122 (8th Cir. 1981)
United States v. R. Enterprises, Inc., 498 U.S. 292 (1991)

United States v. Williams, 504 U.S. 36 (1992)
Webster Cnty. Bd. v. Flattery, 268 N.W.2d 869 (Iowa 1978)
Iowa Const. art. I, § 9
Iowa Const. art. I, § 10
Iowa Const. art. I, § 11
Iowa Const. art. III, § 1
Iowa Const. art. V, § 1
Iowa Const. art. V, § 6
Iowa Code § 331.756(8)
Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.3
Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.5

IV. Doe is entitled to raise a *Plain* challenge “before the grand jury is sworn.”

Duren v. Missouri, 439 U.S. 357 (1979)
Iowa Ins. Institute v. Core Grp. Of Iowa Ass’n for Justice, 867 N.W.2d 58 (Iowa 2015)
Peterson v. First Nat. Bank of Iowa, 392 N.W.2d 158 (Iowa Ct. App. 1986)
Rhoades v. State, 880 N.W.2d 431 (Iowa 2016)
State v. Clark, 814 N.W.2d 551 (Iowa 2012)
State v. Crone, 545 N.W.2d 267 (Iowa 1996)
State v. Hesford, 242 N.W.2d 256 (Iowa 1976)
State v. Pickett, 671 N.W.2d 866 (Iowa 2003)
State v. Plain, 898 N.W.2d 801 (Iowa 2017)
Vasquez v. Hillery, 474 U.S. 254 (1986)
Iowa Const. art. I, § 11
Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.3
4A B. John Burns, *Iowa Practice Series*TM: *Criminal Procedure* § 5:3 (West, Westlaw updated April 2018)
Allbee & Kincaid, *Error Preservation in Civil Litigation: A Primer for the Iowa Practitioner*, 35 Drake L. Rev. 1 (1985–86)
Challenge, *Black’s Law Dictionary* 105 (4th Pocket ed. 1996)

Routing Statement

The supreme court has had few opportunities to address the proper initiation and administration of grand jury proceedings. This case should therefore be retained because it presents several substantial questions of broad public importance which also serve as issues of first impression. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c), (d). First, this Court must determine whether the State may lawfully subpoena an expert, retained by an accused for the purpose of a criminal investigation, to testify before a grand jury as to the expert's opinions. Second, the Court must address the propriety of a state prosecutor contacting that expert *ex parte*. Third, this Court must decide whether a district court has general supervisory authority over a grand jury proceeding to the extent it may quash the proceeding when the proceeding's true purpose is subverted.

Statement of the Case

On September 5, 2018, the State convened a grand jury to determine whether an indictment should be filed against the Appellant, John Doe.¹ (GJT 2:10–11). Before the grand jury was selected and sworn, Doe filed two motions requesting that the proceeding be continued, that the proceeding be

¹The pseudonym “John Doe” is used throughout this brief to refer to the accused because grand jury proceedings are secret in nature. Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.3(4); *see* Iowa Ct. R. 21.25.

quashed in its entirety, or at a minimum that one subpoena—issued to Doe’s retained expert—be quashed. (App. 30; App. 37). The district court entered an order denying the motions and a grand jury was selected and sworn. (9/5/2018 Order; GJT 77:25–78:2). Doe filed an Application for Interlocutory Review. (App. 43). Both parties were given an opportunity to brief the issues raised in the Application. (App. 43). Interlocutory review was then granted, and the grand jury proceeding was stayed. (App. 63).

Statement of the Facts

I. Case Initiation and Plea Discussions.

John Doe, an African-American male, is the adoptive father of S.C., a minor child. In November 2017, law enforcement received information from the Department of Human Services that S.C. had possibly been physically abused. (App. 5). A detective reported to S.C.’s daycare center and observed what he perceived to be multiple bruises on S.C.’s back, which were photographed. (App. 5). The detective interviewed Doe about the bruises. (App. 5). Following that interview, a criminal complaint was filed against Doe alleging Child Endangerment Causing Bodily Injury—a class “D” felony. (App. 5).

Shortly after the complaint was filed, a county prosecutor was specially assigned to the case. (App. 8). Doe retained legal counsel and pled not guilty.

(App. 7). Doe waived his right to speedy indictment under Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.33(2)(a). (App. 20). Doe also filed a motion to produce discovery. (App. 10). The district court granted the discovery motion and ordered reciprocal discovery. (App. 16).

The parties began discussions to resolve the case and Doe's counsel met with the special prosecutor on at least four occasions. (GJT 30:10–13; App. 61). The attorneys reviewed the photographs of S.C.'s back as part of settlement discussions. (GJT 30:11–14). One of the fighting issues was whether the State could prove its case of physical abuse based on the photographs taken of S.C. The attorneys adamantly disputed whether the photographs indicated bruising (consistent with physical abuse) or merely depicted a skin condition. (GJT 30:13–17).

In late December, the parties reached a tentative resolution of the case. (App. 18). However, no agreement was formalized, and the State's investigation continued. In January 2018, the special prosecutor applied for a subpoena *duces tecum* for S.C.'s medical records. (App. 21). In his Application, the prosecutor agreed to forward all documents he received pursuant to the subpoena to defense counsel. (App. 21).

Six more months passed, and the special prosecutor requested the assistance of Assistant Attorney General Denise Timmins. (App. 25).

Defense counsel continued to meet with prosecutors. In the course of those settlement discussions, Doe’s attorney disclosed he had consulted with two doctors about the case. (App. 61). Defense counsel eventually disclosed that one of those doctors, Dr. Linda Railsback, had been retained in connection with the investigation and for the purpose of assisting in Doe’s defense. (GJT 29:17–20; 38:11–20). Defense counsel had asked Dr. Railsback to review several documents but had not provided Railsback the full case file. (App. 61). Dr. Railsback had not completed a report or rendered an official opinion to be used in Doe’s defense. (GJT 29:22–25).

II. Lead-Up to the Grand Jury Proceeding.

By August 2018—nine months after the State began its investigation and the parties began discussing possible resolution—no trial information had been filed by the prosecutors. On August 29, 2018, prosecutor Ms. Timmins called defense counsel, Alfredo Parrish, who was traveling out of state at the time. (GJT 10:4–14). Ms. Timmins informed Mr. Parrish that the State had decided to convene a grand jury. (GJT 10:15–16). Mr. Parrish asked who the State would be subpoenaing for the proceeding. (GJT 10:16–17). Ms. Timmins would not give that information, on the basis the State was not legally required to tell Doe about the proceeding at all. (GJT 10:18; 20:17–19).

That same day, Ms. Timmins contacted defense expert Dr. Linda Railsback by telephone without any advance notice to, or permission from, defense counsel. (App. 28; GJT 25:12–14). Timmins asked Dr. Railsback if she was working on a case involving Mr. Parrish and John Doe. (App. 28; GJT 11:13–14). Railsback responded she was not able to discuss that matter with Timmins and there was an awkward silence. (App. 28; GJT 11:15–16). Timmins then confronted Dr. Railsback about what Timmins believed to be the doctor’s ultimate opinion as to S.C.’s injuries, which Timmins supposedly had learned through the settlement discussions. (App. 28; GJT 11:16–18). Again, Railsback responded she was not able to discuss the matter with Timmins. (App. 28; GJT 11:18–20). According to Dr. Railsback, Timmins then said “she would have me subpoenaed if I would not answer her questions.” (App. 28). Two days later, Dr. Railsback was served with a subpoena. (App. 28).

Despite months of constructive settlement discussions, Doe was unable to confirm who else received a subpoena because of the State’s new stonewall approach. Nonetheless it appeared at least one of Doe’s coworkers, a sibling, and Doe’s wife would be subpoenaed. (GJT 14:9–18). By no coincidence, these individuals were named on John Doe’s witness list in a related Child-In-Need-of-Assistance case. (*Id.*).

On September 4, Doe filed a motion to quash the subpoena of Dr. Railsback, reasoning that the only conceivable testimony Railsback could offer to the grand jury is privileged. (App. 30). The following morning, Doe filed a second motion requesting the grand jury proceeding be quashed in its entirety given the State’s tactics or, at a minimum, continued to allow for a challenge of the demographic makeup of the grand jury panel. (App. 37); *see State v. Plain*, 898 N.W.2d 801 (Iowa 2017). Doe also requested that Ms. Timmins be disqualified from the case due to her *ex parte* contact with Dr. Railsback. (App. 30).

III. Grand Jury Proceeding.

The district court heard Doe’s motions in chambers before the grand jury was selected and sworn. (GJT 2:10–17).

Much of the hearing focused on the State’s motive in convening a grand jury. The prosecutors claimed they opted to call a grand jury due to their indecisiveness whether to indict via trial information. (GJT 18:12–13; 26:17–21). The purpose of subpoenaing the defendant’s expert—and all conceivable defense witnesses—was therefore to give John Doe “a fair shake.” (GJT 27:8). Doe disagreed:

The State seemingly is arguing that they want to present all evidence before the grand jury. The State doesn’t know what the defendant’s evidence is. The State’s delving into the defendant’s discovery. There would really be no other reason for the State to

bring in witnesses that the defendant has listed either via CINA proceeding or in advising in settlement discussions that they talked to Dr. Railsback and subpoenaing her for trial. They don't know that it would -- how that would advance the cause. That is their attempt to delve into the defendant's investigation and ability to defend himself.

....

Their reason for calling them in is not to advance the cause and the knowledge of the grand jury, judge. It is our position that the State needs to bring to the grand jury the evidence that the State has that they believe may or may not help to indict, but to bring in the defendant -- people that they have discovered that the defendant has talked to, when in order for the State to find out what the -- what they're going to say via the tool of the grand jury proceeding, you know, strikes as adverse to the -- subterfuge to the discovery process and to the grand jury proceeding.

(GJT 13:6–16; 14:19–15:4). Doe also pointed out the so-called “fair shake” approach was inconsistent with the State's (1) refusal to inform Doe who would be called, and (2) blanket subpoenaing of defense witnesses without any prior notice or input from defense counsel. (GJT 28:18–29:9)

As to Dr. Railsback, Ms. Timmins confirmed she had contacted the defense expert *ex parte* the previous week. (GJT 17:11–12). Ms. Timmins also confirmed she attempted to elicit Dr. Railsback's opinion about the case:

When I called her, I did ask her, “You know, it is my understanding that this is what I've been told your opinion is . . . Is that correct?”

And her response was correctly said, an awkward silence. She said she wasn't comfortable talking about that.

(GJT 17:17–22). In other words, “I asked a question. She didn’t answer. I informed her factually that she would still be receiving a subpoena.” (GJT 18:4–6).

Prosecutors maintained the sole reason to subpoena Dr. Railsback was because the State perceived Railsback possessed “exculpatory evidence.” (GJT 20:5; 27:17–19). Defense counsel again disagreed with that characterization:

The State does not know what Dr. Railsback is going to testify to. . . .

If the State’s purpose was benevolent to present exculpatory evidence that the defendant had, presumably the State would have advised the defense that they were going to call Dr. Railsback and possibly the defense would like to -- or “Would the defense like to call Dr. Railsback?”

The State wouldn’t tell us that they were calling her. The State called her without letting us know that they were going to call her. And then the State subpoenaed her. That doesn’t ring true with, “We think she’s got exculpatory evidence, so we’re going to present it before the jury.” To me, that rings more of, “We want to know what discovery she might have.”

(GJT 28:18–29:9). Importantly, Dr. Railsback had only been retained for purposes of assisting in a defense—not to testify at trial. (GJT 38:15–24). Defense counsel argued that up until Doe decided to call Dr. Railsback to testify, under no other circumstances would the State be entitled to compel testimony from Railsback as a defense expert. (GJT 9:1–11). Allowing the

subpoena to stand would therefore subvert the discovery process and allow access to traditionally privileged information. (GJT 8:11–17).

Following argument, the district court denied Doe’s request to quash the entire grand jury proceeding. The court concluded it lacked the legal authority to do so because grand jury proceedings are designed to protect the interests of the accused. (GJT 42:6–14; App. 44).

Doe had also requested the grand jury proceedings be continued in order to access demographic data about the grand jury pool in Dallas County. The request was rooted in Doe’s constitutional right to a grand jury panel comprised of a fair cross-section of the community, to which the State agreed Doe was entitled. (GJT 6:16–7:22; 49:5–7); *see* Iowa Const. art. I, §§ 10–11. However, the district court ruled that such a challenge to the panel could be raised after the grand jury was sworn, and if an indictment was returned. (GJT 43:5–7; App. 44).

The district court took the Dr. Railsback issue under advisement and later denied the motion to quash in a written ruling. The court concluded:

While documents or tangible items prepared in anticipation of litigation between an attorney and expert are immune from disclosure (Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.503(3)), the party claiming that privilege must describe the nature of the documents, communications or things claimed to be privileged so that the applicability of the privilege can be assessed. (Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.503(5)(a)). The State has not requested any documents or tangible items from Dr. Railsback. In this case, as

related to Dr. Railsback, the Defendant only claims the Defendant's "trial strategy" is privileged work product. To the extent Dr. Railsback is aware of Defendant's "trial strategy" (there is nothing in the record to show that she is), that information would be privileged and should not be sought. However, the exculpatory evidence Defendant's counsel told the State Dr. Railsback would testify regarding is not privileged and the State should be allowed to inquire about it. It makes no sense to this court why Defendant's counsel would repeatedly inform prosecutors that Dr. Railsback would provide evidence favorable to and tending to exonerate the Defendant if this matter were to proceed to trial, but then resist her providing that same exculpatory testimony to a grand jury.

(App. 44). Given this ruling, the court also concluded there was no basis to disqualify Ms. Timmins from the case. (App. 45; GJT 52:6–10).

Following the in-chambers hearing, a grand jury was selected and sworn for the remainder of 2018. (GJT 77:25–78:2). On September 11, 2018, this Court granted Doe's Application for Interlocutory Appeal and stayed the grand jury proceedings. (App. 63).

Argument

I. A prosecutor who contacts an accused's expert *ex parte* must be disqualified from a criminal case.

A. *Error Preservation.*

Doe filed a motion to disqualify prosecutor Denise Timmins, which was resisted by the State and denied by the district court following argument. (App. 37; GJT 24:17–25; App. 43). Error is preserved. *State v. Coleman*, 890 N.W.2d 284, 286–87 (Iowa 2017).

B. *Standard of Review.*

This Court typically reviews a district court's decision regarding the disqualification of an attorney for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Thompson*, 597 N.W.2d 779, 782 (Iowa 1999). However, because the issue arises in a criminal case and implicates constitutional protections such as the right to due process and the right to a fair grand jury and jury trial, review is de novo. *Id.*

C. *Ms. Timmins violated the “no-contact rule” and must therefore be removed from the case.*

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