IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 18-1534

IN RE 2018 GRAND JURY OF DALLAS COUNTY,

JOHN DOE, Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR DALLAS COUNTY THE HONORABLE DUSTRIA RELPH, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

ZACHARY MILLER

Assistant Attorneys General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) zachary.miller@ag.iowa.gov denise.timmins@ag.iowa.gov

MATTHEW SHULTZ Madison County Attorney

DENISE TIMMINS Assistant Attorney General

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. The district court did not err by refusing to quash the grand jury subpoena compelling Dr. Linda Railsback to testify because the State subpoenaed Railsback to offer exculpatory evidence and Doe waived privilege.

Preservation of Error

Doe moved the district court to quash the Railsback subpoena because that subpoena violated work-product privilege and circumvented discovery; the district court denied the motion. Mot. Quash Subpoena (9/4/2018) at 2–3; App.31–32; Order on Mots. (9/5/2018) at 1–2; App.43–44. This claim is preserved. *Meier v*. *Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002).

Doe failed to preserve a constitutional claim. He suggests that "this Court's review involves constitutional claims." Doe Br. at 31. But he makes no constitutional argument to quash the Railsback subpoena here, waiving such claim. *Id.* at 31-39; Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(g)(3). Similarly, Doe's motion to quash asserted that allowing the State to subpoena Railsback would "violate [his] constitutional rights," but he did not explain how. Mot. to Quash Subpoena (9/4/2018) at 3; App.32; *cf.* Mots. Hr'g Tr., 4:12 to 16:15. The district court did not rule on a constitutional argument. Order on Mots. (9/5/2018) at 1–2; App.43–44. Such a claim is unpreserved. *Meier*, 641 N.W.2d at 537.

Standard of Review

This Court reviews a district court decision on whether to quash a subpoena for "an abuse of discretion." *State v. Cole*, No. 07–0832, 2008 WL 4876993, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 13, 2008) (citing *Morris v. Morris*, 383 N.W.2d 527, 529 (Iowa 1986)); *see also State v. Cashen*, 789 N.W.2d 400, 405 (Iowa 2010) *superseded by statute on other grounds by* Iowa Code § 622.10. A district court abuses its discretion by relying on an unsupported fact finding or erroneously applying the law. *See State v. Parker*, 747 N.W.2d 196, 203 (Iowa 2008) (quoting *State v. Rodriquez*, 636 N.W.2d 234, 239 (Iowa 2001)). To the extent this claim presents a question of statutory interpretation, review is "for correction of errors at law." *State v.*

Russell, 897 N.W.2d 717, 724 (Iowa 2017) (quoting *State v. Dahl*, 874 N.W.2d 348, 351 (Iowa 2016)).

Merits

In denying Doe's motion to quash the Railsback subpoena the district court observed: "It makes no sense to this court why Defendant's counsel would repeatedly inform prosecutors that Dr. Railsback would provide evidence favorable to and tending to exonerate the Defendant if this matter were to proceed to trial, but then resist her providing that same exculpatory testimony to a grand jury." Order on Mots. (9/5/2018) at 2; App.44; *see also* Mots. Hr'g Tr., 33:4–6 ("So you're asking me to keep out exculpatory evidence from ... the grand jury? ... That's what it feels like to me."). Indeed, by moving to quash the Railsback subpoena, Doe tried to prevent the State from presenting her exculpatory opinion to the grand jury. The district court did not abuse its discretion by refusing that request.

Doe disagrees for two reasons. He says: (1) "[e]nforcing the subpoena ... circumvents the specific rules of discovery for disclosure of Dr. Railsback's opinion," and (2) the subpoena seeks only privileged information. Doe's Br. at 33, 32. Both arguments fail.

A. The State was not conducting discovery by subpoenaing Railsback, it was presenting exculpatory evidence.

1. The State could subpoena Railsback to present exculpatory evidence to the grand jury.

Doe argues that the State subpoenaed Railsback to end run discovery rules. Doe Br. at 32–34. But he offered no proof. *See generally id*. That is because none exists.

The State subpoenaed Railsback to present her exculpatory opinion to the grand jury. As Timmins explained: "Parrish has stated on numerous occasions throughout this case that Dr. Railsback is going to say that [SC] has a skin condition, is going to have exculpatory information. That is why we are calling her." Mots. Hr'g Tr., 18:7–10; 27:17–22. Schultz explained that Parrish told him "Railsback ... reviewed the pictures" of SC, and she opined that they showed that SC did not have "bruises ... [but] Mongolian spots or several other different skin conditions [including] eczema." Id. at 30:10–17; 30:24 to 31:15. Given what Parrish told them, Timmins and Schultz "underst[oo]d[] [that Railsback] ha[d] exculpatory evidence, and so we felt it proper to put that in front of the [grand] jury ... so they can make a decision about it." Id. at 27:17-22; see also id. at 26:7-9; 27:7-8; 30:10-23; 32:2-4.

The district court found that Doe told the State about Railsback's exculpatory opinion and that the State could present that exculpatory evidence to the grand jury. Order on Mots. (9/5/2018) at 2; App.44. In addition to Timmins's and Schultz's statements, other evidence supported those findings. For example, the State did not seek any documents from Railsback. Railsback Subpoena (8/30/2018); App.26; Order on Mots. (9/5/2018) at 2; App.44. The State also represented it would use a beyond-a-reasonable-doubt, not probable-cause, instruction when submitting the case to the grand jury for deliberation, demonstrating its intent to treat Doe more than fair. Mots. Hr'g Tr., 26:7–15; 27:11–13. The record supports the district court's findings; this Court should not disturb them.

The State's decision to present exculpatory evidence to the grand jury was prudent. True, the State had no duty to do so. *United States v. Williams*, 504 U.S. 36, 47, 55 (1992). But considerable authority dictated that it should. The Iowa Supreme Court has observed that a prosecutor's duty "in grand jury proceed[ings] is to fairly and dispassionately present not only that evidence which tends to prove guilt but also that which is exculpatory." *State v. Hall*, 235 N.W.2d 702, 712 (Iowa 1975). American Bar Association ("ABA")

Standards provide that a prosecutor "with personal knowledge of evidence that directly negates the guilt of a subject of the investigation should present or otherwise disclose that evidence to the grand jury." ABA Crim. Justice Standards for the Prosecution Function, 3-4.6(e) (4th ed. 2015). The United States Department of Justice's ("DOJ") manual requires its prosecutors with personal knowledge of exculpatory evidence to present it to the grand jury. DOJ, Justice Manual, 9-11.233 (2018). And the Iowa Rules of Criminal Procedure allow the grand jury to hear "evidence for the defendant." Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.3(4)(g). By subpoening Railsback to present exculpatory evidence, the State acted appropriately and justly.

Civil discovery rules do not apply in criminal cases much less to grand juries.

Doe hinges his argument that the State could not subpoena Railsback on Iowa's civil procedure rules, particularly Rule 1.508(2) governing consulting experts. Doe's Br. at 33. But the "rules of civil procedure do not apply to criminal matters." *State v. Russell*, 897 N.W.2d 717, 725 (Iowa 2017) (citing *State v. Halstead*, 791 N.W.2d 805, 813 (Iowa 2010)). In fact, the discovery provisions in Iowa's criminal rules do not apply to limit the State's investigative powers until the State has filed charges. *State v. Sanders*, 623 N.W.2d 858, 861–62 (Iowa 2001); *see also id.* at 863–64 (Snell, J., concurring) ("Once charges have been filed against a defendant … the State becomes bound by the rules of discovery."); Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.5(6) (authorizing prosecuting attorneys to seek and district courts to issue pre-charge investigatory subpoenas). The district court acted properly by refusing to quash the Railsback subpoena based on inapplicable rules.

While the civil rules can be instructive in criminal cases, *id.*, Iowa's rules of criminal procedure govern here. The Rules of Criminal Procedure provide for the grand jury, prosecuting attorney, or both to issue subpoenas to secure witnesses and records for the grand jury. Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.3(4)(e). The grand jury can order that evidence favorable to a target be produced. *Id.* at 2.3(4)(g). They also have expert discovery provisions, though they do not apply until charges are filed. Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.14(2)(b)(1), (2); 2.14(3)(b); *see also Sanders*, 623 N.W.2d at 861–62. Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.508(2) does not apply. *See Russell*, 897 N.W.2d at 725; Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.101. The grand jury's investigative function buttresses that conclusion. Grand juries investigate conduct to decide if it is criminal. *See State v. Paulsen*, 286 N.W.2d 157, 160 (Iowa 1979) (citing *United States v. Calandra*, 414 U.S. 338, 342–44 (1974)); Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.3(4)(j). Imposing civil discovery rules on the grand jury would stymie that purpose. The district court would have erred by imposing them here.

B. Doe waived work-product privilege by telling the State Railsback's opinion.

For Doe's claim to prevail, work-product privilege must shield all the "testimony Dr. Railsback could provide to the grand jury." Doe Br. at 32, 36–37. Doe waived any such privilege.

Doe waived work-product privilege when Parrish told Timmins and Schultz Railsback's opinion. Communicating privileged workproduct to an adversary waives privilege. *See, e.g., Doe No. 1 v. United States*, 749 F.3d 999, 1008 (11th Cir. 2014) ("Disclosure of work-product materials to an adversary waives the work-product privilege." (citing *In re Chrysler Motors Corp. Overnight Evaluation Program Litig.*, 860 F.3d 844, 846 (8th Cir. 1988))); *Pittman v. Frazer*, 129 F.3d 983, 988 (8th Cir. 1997) (citation omitted); *Exotica Botanicals, Inc. v. Terra Int'l, Inc.*, 612 N.W.2d 801, 804–09 (Iowa

2000) (rejecting subject-matter waiver for work product protection but assuming that the specific information disclosed lost work product protection). As the district court found, Parrish communicated Railsback's opinion to the State. Order on Mots. (9/5/2018) at 1–2; App.43–44 ("[T]he exculpatory evidence Defendant's counsel told the State Dr. Railsback would testify regarding is not privileged."). Thus, Doe waived privilege as to Railsback's opinion.

Doe resists that conclusion, arguing that by subpoenaing Railsback the State violated ABA standards, rules on plea discussions, and the rules of evidence. All three arguments fail.

First, because Doe waived privilege, his claim that the State violated ABA standards for prosecutors by subpoenaing Railsback misses the mark. According to those standards, a "prosecutor should not issue a grand jury subpoena to a criminal ... defense team member, or other witness whose testimony reasonably might be protected by a recognized privilege, without considering the applicable law and rules of professional responsibility." ABA Crim. Justice Standards for the Prosecution Function, 3-4.6(i) (4th ed. 2015). The State considered the applicable law and concluded Doe

waived privilege by telling the State Railsback's opinion. *See id*. Plus, ABA standards tell the State it should present exculpatory evidence it knows about, which was the purpose of subpoenaing Railsback. *See id*. at 3-4.6(e).

Second, it does not matter that Parrish conveyed Railsback's opinion in plea discussions. Disclosing confidential information during plea discussions waives work-product privilege. Doe No. 1, 749 F.3d at 1008–10; see also Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.10(5) (making plea discussions "[in]admissible in any criminal" proceeding, not absolutely privileged). Doe's position that the State cannot investigate or otherwise use information learned during plea discussions would allow defendants to inoculate themselves from harmful evidence by disclosing it during plea negotiations. Doe. Br. at 38. Doe's concern that allowing the State to pursue evidence it learns of in plea discussions will discourage pleas is misplaced. Defendants disclose favorable information during pleas in hopes of persuading the State to offer better deals. It is to be expected, and to defendants' benefit, that the State will confirm such information. Plus, plea discussions have protection: they cannot be admitted as evidence. Iowa R. Evid. 5.410(a)(4).

Third, Doe's claim that Iowa Rule of Evidence 5.104(a) required the State to notify him it had subpoenaed Railsback misapplies that rule. Doe Br. at 35. Rule 5.104(a) requires a court do decide preliminary questions regarding privilege. It says nothing about notifying the target of a grand jury investigation about who is subpoenaed. Doe's reading of Rule 5.104(a) undermines the secrecy enveloping grand jury proceedings. See Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.3(4)(d). Notifying a target of who the grand jury or State subpoenaed to appear before the grand jury could allow the target to tamper with evidence or witnesses, or even flee. Those concerns animate the rule that the State need not tell a target of a grand jury proceeding at all. See State v. Wellington, 264 N.W.2d 739, 740–41 (Iowa 1978) (affirming the denial of a defendant's challenge that because she did not know a grand jury was convened to consider her case she could not challenge individual jurors as allowed by statute); State v. Gartin, 271 N.W.2d 902, 908 (Iowa 1978) (same). A fortiori, the State need not tell a target who it has subpoenaed. In any event, the district court decided Doe's privilege claim when it denied his motion to quash. Order on Mots. (9/5/2018) at 1–2; App.43–44.

While Doe is wrong that Railsback's opinion is privileged, the State and district court recognized Doe's concern. The district court ordered the State not to seek Doe's trial strategy when examining Railsback. Order on Mots. (9/5/2018) at 2; App.44. The State will abide by that order. Railsback can claim privilege when testifying if she believes a question seeks such information, and the district court will decide the claim. Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.3(4)(h); *see also Gartin*, 271 N.W.2d at 908 (holding witness should have claimed attorney-client privilege to refuse answering a question before grand jury). These safeguards ensure the State will not obtain privileged information.

* * *

Doe waived privilege when Parrish told the State Railsback's exculpatory opinion that SC suffered from a skin condition, not bruises from abuse. Once the State learned that exculpatory information it could, and should, have presented it to the grand jury. The district court did not abuse its discretion by finding that the State could present Railsback's exculpatory opinion to the grand jury.

II. The district court did not abuse its discretion by refusing to disqualify Denise Timmins for subpoenaing Railsback to present her exculpatory opinion to the grand jury.

Preservation of Error

Doe argued that the court should disqualify Timmins because she "directly contacted defense counsel's expert and demanded information about this matter." Mot. Quash Grand Jury (9/5/2018) at 5, ¶ 9; App.41; Mots. Hr'g Tr., 15:9–14. The district court overruled the motion, preserving error. Mots. Hr'g Tr., 52:5–10; Order on Mots. (9/5/2018) at 3; App.45; *Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002).

To the extend Doe makes a constitutional argument, such claim is unpreserved. He did not argue that the Iowa Constitution or United States Constitution demanded disqualification; the district court did not decide that issue. Mot. Quash Grand Jury (9/5/2018) at 4–5; App.40–41; Mots. Hr'g Tr., 15:9–14; 52:5–10. No constitutional claim is preserved. *Meier*, 641 N.W.2d at 537.

Standard of Review

This Court reviews a district court's decision not to disqualify a prosecutor for abuse of discretion. *State v. Iowa Dist. Court*, 870 N.W.2d 849, 850, 853 (Iowa 2015).

Merits

Doe argues that the district court abused its discretion by declining to disqualify Timmins for contacting Railsback ex parte. Doe Br. at 22. He failed to prove an abuse of discretion.

A. Doe failed to prove Timmins had a conflict of interest demanding disqualification.

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